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To my parents and their peers, who gave so much that
 we could prevail as the home of the brave and land of the free—
 with hope that we remain worthy of their sacrifice.





INTRODUCTION


More than fifty-five million people were killed in World War II. Seven times that number were wounded, injured, or suffered serious deprivation. The global war affected people on every continent except Antarctica, and arguably caused greater political, cultural, and demographic change than any other armed conflict in the human record.

In this book and the accompanying DVD are the personal, eyewitness accounts of American and Allied men and women who lived through the epic battles of the European theater during this brutal conflict. Their stories are inspirational—yet most of these heroes are unknown except to their families and neighbors. Their first-person accounts serve as a reminder that the price of liberty in blood and treasure can be very high indeed.

For more than forty years, it has been my privilege to keep company with heroes—those who place themselves at risk for the benefit of others. All of us involved in these War Stories books—and the award-winning FOX News documentaries on which they are based—are dedicated to preserving for posterity the record of people like these in this volume who have served on the front lines of freedom.

These World War II participants are now in their twilight years. Most are in their eighties and nineties and they will not be with us much longer  to share their stories—for they are dying at the rate of about 1,000 a day. I am grateful that we were able to capture these priceless narratives while there was yet time, as a legacy for future generations of our great nation.

This book was also written at a time when brave men and women, serving at home and abroad, are once again engaged in an armed struggle against a deadly foe. Like Hitler and the other Axis leaders, today’s adversaries are brutal, murderous, and fanatically refuse to abide by civilized rules or laws. These stories from the past are replete with lessons to teach us about our country’s future, and the principles that govern and guide us despite the passage of time.

In 1941, Winston Churchill spent Christmas in Washington, D.C. He came to the United States in secret, but at the lighting of the national tree on Christmas Eve, President Roosevelt asked him to say a few words. Churchill urged all Americans to “cast aside, for this night at least, the cares and dangers which beset us and make for the children an evening of happiness in a world of storm.”

“Let the children have their night of fun and laughter,” Churchill said. “Let us grown-ups share to the full in their unstinted pleasures—before we turn again to the stern tasks and the formidable years that lie before us, resolved that by our sacrifice and daring these same children shall not be robbed of their inheritance or denied their right to live in a free and decent world.”

In the days after Churchill’s remark, nearly all Americans would experience stern tasks and be called to daring deeds. Whether for those who saw these heroes firsthand, or those who know of them only through the shared stories of family and friends, this book can help bring insight, understanding, pride, and even closure. From 1941 to 1945, almost every American family had a loved one—brother, father, husband, son, sister, or daughter—who served in some capacity during World War II. Theirs are War Stories that deserve to be told.


Semper Fidelis, 
Oliver North 
21 October 2005





CHAPTER 1

WAR CLOUDS 1938–1941


World War II in Europe was both inevitable and preventable. It was a war started by a military dictator who came to power not by a coup, but by the ballot box. One man—Adolf Hitler—precipitated the carnage, and he was able to do so because the German people and the democracies of the world were unwilling to confront his growing evil until it was too late.

A World War I veteran, unsuccessful artist, and failed businessman, Hitler was a charismatic demagogue, xenophobe and racist. From 1919 to 1923, with Germany reeling in the chaotic political environment after World War I and crippled by reparations imposed by the Treaty of Versailles, he and a half-dozen other political unknowns organized the nucleus of what was to become the National Socialist—or Nazi—Party.

In the autumn of 1923, the French army occupied the Ruhr River valley, Germany’s industrial heartland, in an effort to force Berlin to pay its World War I reparations. The value of the German currency plummeted and Hitler convinced himself—and several thousand followers—that the hyper-inflation and French “invasion” had created conditions conducive to a coup that would bring down the national government.

The “Beer Hall Putsch,” in Munich on 9 November 1923, failed miserably. Had Hitler and his co-conspirators been sentenced to lengthy jail terms, that might well have ended any threat that he and his Sturmabteilung—the “SA,” brown-shirted “Storm-troopers”—posed to the Weimar Republic and the security of Europe. But as it turned out, he only served nine months, just enough time to dictate his political manifesto, Mein Kampf (My Struggle) to his leading accomplice Rudolf Hess, a fellow World War I veteran.

Once freed, Hitler spent the next eight years building a political machine—and a 400,000-man private army. In the elections of 1932, the Nazi party won more than 37 percent of the vote and a plurality of seats in the Reichstag, the German parliament. Beset by the catastrophic effects of the worldwide “Great Depression,” six million unemployed workers, and the rising specter of Communist-inspired revolution, Paul von Hindenburg, a World War I hero and the figurehead president of the republic, installed Hitler as chancellor on 30 January 1933.

 





Nazi brownshirts saluting Hitler (1935).
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The following month the Reichstag was destroyed by fire. The Nazis claimed that the fire had been set by Communists and used the incident to pass the infamous “Enabling Bill,” which suspended legislative authority and gave Hitler near absolute power to make new laws. In June of 1934 he had all of his rivals in the SA brutally murdered, and when Hindenburg died in August of that year, Hitler combined the offices of chancellor and president in a new post: Führer. From that moment on, war was practically inevitable.

Hitler immediately set about consolidating his hold on absolute power. By 1935 his public works projects: railroads, motorways (he called them autobahnen), airports, military conscription, and armaments industries, had cut German unemployment to a fraction of that in the rest of the world. Meanwhile, Europe’s leaders did little but debate about what to do about the growing menace in the heart of the continent.

The French, alarmed at Hitler’s withdrawal from the League of Nations and his unilateral abrogation of the Versailles Treaty, did little but double the term of service for their army conscripts and speed up work on their border fortifications—the Maginot Line. The British, in the first of many acts of appeasement, agreed that Germany was no longer bound by naval restrictions imposed by the Versailles Treaty. In Moscow, Josef Stalin was busy purging his military and establishing a totalitarian police state that oppressed, tortured, and killed millions. In Rome, Hitler’s philosophical ally and fellow fascist, Benito Mussolini, was engaged in his own imperial ambitions in Africa. Militarism and expansionism also gained ground in Asia, as the Japanese expanded their territorial ambitions in the heart of China from Manchuria, which it had occupied in 1930.

Emboldened by the impotence of his neighbors, in March 1936, Hitler sent troops into the “demilitarized” Rhineland, in violation of the Treaty of Versailles. In October that same year, Hitler and Mussolini signed the Rome-Berlin Axis Agreement—expanded a year later to include a military agreement under the so-called Anti-Comintern Pact—pledging military support to one another in the event of war with the Soviet Union.

In late 1937 the Führer also reorganized the German military and established a new strategic command structure—the Obercommando der  Wermacht (OKW)—and put himself at its head. In November of that year, Hitler convened a secret conference in the Reich Chancellery, where he outlined for his cabinet and senior military commanders his plan to gain Lebensraum—“living space”—for the “Aryan” race, a term for the German people that he’d first articulated in Mein Kampf.

The broad strokes of Hitler’s plan called for expanding German territory to the east, seizing resources, “purifying” German-held territory of “non-Aryan” peoples and “confronting Communism.” In his grand plan for creating a “Third Reich,” he envisioned massive propaganda campaigns, the use of disinformation to spread fear, the use of espionage operations in an enemy’s heartland, and “lightning stroke” military maneuvers to overwhelm adversaries without the static attrition that had characterized combat in World War I. He correctly surmised that the French would have to be beaten militarily but wrongly assumed that both the Soviet Union and Great Britain could be cowed into submission.

The Führer’s strategic premise—that the Western democracies would be powerless to stop the German juggernaut—was supported by assessments of his military intelligence service, the Abwehr. By the time he finished laying out his plan for European domination, no one in the Nazi party had any doubt that Hitler was ready for war.

On 12 March 1938 Germany annexed Austria in what the Führer called an Anschluss—or “re-unifying annexation.” The European democracies filed a diplomatic protest. When Hitler arrayed his army on the border of Czechoslovakia that September, Neville Chamberlain and Édouard Daladier—the British and French prime ministers—flew to Munich in an effort to appease the German dictator. On his return to London, Chamberlain, quoting an old hymn, promised that they had secured “peace for our time.” Less than six months later, on 15 March 1939, the grey-clad, jack-booted Wehrmacht marched into Prague, Czechoslovakia, without resistance. Only then did the British and French start serious preparations for war.

 





Molotov and Ribbentrop sign non-aggression treaty in Moscow.
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 While London and Paris scrambled to accelerate military production and conscription, Hitler engaged in a diplomatic offensive with his sworn enemy to the east—the Soviet Union. On 22 August 1939 foreign ministers Vyacheslav Molotov and Joachim von Ribbentrop signed a secret non-aggression pact in Moscow, effectively dividing Poland in two—giving Hitler free reign east to the Vistula—and a German promise not to intervene if the Soviets annexed the Baltic states of Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania.

When the sixty-two divisions and 1,300 aircraft of the Nazi war machine invaded Poland on 1 September 1939, it took three full days for Britain, France, Australia, and New Zealand to declare war on Germany. Poland’s ill-equipped army fought the blitzkrieg—“lightning war,” a term coined by British newspapers—as best they were able, hoping for a rapid Allied response. But the unprepared Poles were no match for the modernized German army, and when Warsaw fell on 27 September, no allied forces were yet fully mobilized. Rather than surrender to Hitler’s legions, several hundred thousand Polish troops fled east—only to be captured by the Soviets, who promptly murdered every officer who fell into their hands.

The Führer spent the remainder of the autumn and the winter of 1939–1940 preparing for an expected Franco-British intervention in the west that never came—and arguing with his generals as to how best to capture France. Stalin, believing himself secured from Hitler’s voracious territorial appetite by the Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact, sent his own army into Finland on 30 November 1939, earning nothing more than expulsion from the League of Nations.

Hitler watched the “Winter War” in Finland with great interest. The poor performance of more than a million Soviet troops—fighting fewer than 200,000 Finns—convinced the Führer that Stalin’s Red Army was no match for his Wehrmacht. By the time Moscow and Helsinki inked an armistice on 12 March 1940, members of the General Staff in Berlin—instigated by Grand Admiral Erich Raeder—had convinced Hitler that the  Third Reich had to have Norway in order to ensure access from the Baltic into the North Atlantic.

On 9 April 1940 German troops occupied a totally undefended and neutral Denmark—and simultaneously invaded Norway. Though the Wehrmacht quickly captured Oslo, secured their objectives in the south, and forced the royal family to flee, the British Navy fought back tenaciously and succeeded in doing serious damage to the German invasion fleet at Narvik. Only Hitler’s long-planned invasion of Holland, Belgium, and France saved the German invaders from the 25,000 or so Norwegian, British, and French troops fighting their way south down the rough Scandinavian coastline.

Hitler called his plan for seizing France—and the rest of northwestern Europe—Sichelschnitt: “Sickle Stroke.” It involved three German army groups—120 infantry divisions, ten Panzer divisions with 2,400 tanks, two paratroop divisions, thousands of tracked and wheeled vehicles, more than 2,500 aircraft—and the most important requirement of all, the element of surprise. At 0430 on the morning of 10 May 1940, the “Phony War” ended as the largest mechanized army yet assembled on earth began a slashing assault across the neutral Netherlands, Belgium, and Luxembourg—and into the heart of France. That evening the government of Neville Chamberlain collapsed and Winston Churchill was named prime minister.

Within fourteen days the outnumbered and outgunned British Expeditionary Force and the remnants of the once-proud French First Army Group had been pushed into a pocket along the French Coast—the English Channel to their backs. From 24 May to 6 June, a flotilla of nearly a thousand small boats in “Operation Dynamo” evacuated more than 338,000 Allied troops from the beaches of Dunkirk, carrying them across the cold, choppy waters of the channel to the eastern thumb of Kent, England. On 4 June 1940, as “Dynamo” was coming to a close, a defiant Churchill promised, “We shall fight on the beaches, we shall fight on the landing grounds, we shall fight in the fields and in the streets, we shall fight in the hills—we shall never surrender.”

On 10 June, Italy declared war on France and Mussolini dispatched twenty-eight of his divisions across the Alps to invade France from the  south—only to be held in check by four under-strength French divisions. But in the north it was a different story. By 14 June, most French units were simply out of ammunition and Paris, declared an “open city” to spare its destruction, was occupied by German troops. On 16 June, the aged Marshal Philippe Petain—a World War I hero—was appointed prime minister of France. Five days later the old man authorized an armistice—dividing France into an “Occupied Zone” and moving the “sovereign” French government first to Bordeaux and then to Vichy.

The terms of the cease-fire were onerous. Some 90,000 Frenchmen were dead, almost half a million wounded, and nearly two million others became prisoners of the Reich. Across the English Channel, a defiant Winston Churchill, leader of the only democracy left in Europe but Switzerland, told his countrymen to prepare for an invasion—while at the same time trying to persuade America into war.
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Americans had done their best to avoid getting drawn into another war in Europe. Following World War I many American politicians and ordinary citizens proudly described themselves as “isolationists.” By the 1930s, most U.S. citizens were overwhelmed with their own concerns. The Great Depression had robbed a great many of them of their farms, homes, businesses, and way of life. Heartbreaking as Nazi and Japanese atrocities sounded, most Americans had to face their own anxieties. Their families and jobs were more important than what was happening on the other side of the Atlantic or Pacific oceans during one of the darkest and bleakest periods of American history.

As Hitler’s rise to power threatened stability in Europe, prominent American business and political leaders counseled that whatever happened “over there”—it was not our fight. Robert Wood, the chairman of Sears Roebuck Company, emphasized the consequences and the terrible economic losses that war left in its wake. Most newspapers echoed those sentiments and urged that we remain neutral as war clouds enveloped Europe and Asia.

Curiously, the famous record-setting aviator Charles Lindbergh also promoted isolationism, but at the same time seemed to be courting  Germany and Hitler. Lindbergh’s heritage was German, and he held views that some said were anti-Semitic and pro-Nazi. During 1935–39, in his visits to Germany, where he praised German aviation, Lindbergh was presented with a medal from the Nazis. A member of an isolationist movement calling itself “America First,” Lindbergh was also a featured speaker during a neo-Nazi rally of the “German-American Bund” when they met at Madison Square Garden in 1941.

Though President Franklin Delano Roosevelt viewed developments in Europe and Asia with growing concern, he was unable to convince Congress not to pass a series of five “Neutrality Acts” between 1935 and 1939.

These laws effectively prohibited the United States government or its citizens from becoming a party to either side in the overseas conflicts by banning the shipment of war materiel and restricting travel abroad by U.S. citizens “except at their own risk.” FDR—who favored opposing German, Japanese, and Italian aggression—walked a tight line. He wanted to soften the country’s isolationist position, but at the same time didn’t want to alienate Congress by vetoing any of the neutrality bills. He was unwilling to jeopardize legislation that he wanted passed which he believed would help ameliorate the effects of the Depression.

But just weeks after FDR signed the first Neutrality Act in 1935, Hitler’s National Socialist Party passed the Nurenburg laws—revoking the citizenship of German Jews. The Nazis then forbade marriage between Jews and “pure-blooded” Germans. Seeing the handwriting on the wall, many Jews living in Germany decided to leave the country. But America, like most other countries, turned them away.

The U.S. had tightened immigration policies some ten years earlier, and lawmakers were unwilling to ease those restrictions—after all, America was still deep within the Depression and many unemployed Americans were afraid that a flood of refugees would make it even harder to find a job. Polls showed that three-fourths of the country opposed raising refugee quotas.

The international response to the Jewish refugee situation was no better. The matter was debated in European capitals, but none volunteered to open the doors to the Jewish refugees. That only encouraged further Nazi  oppression of the Jews in Germany. In 1938 Hitler arrested 17,000 Jews of Polish citizenship—many of whom had been living in Germany—and relocated them in “work camps” on the Polish border after Poland refused to take them back.

In November 1938, violence organized by the Nazis erupted in what became known as Kristallnacht—the “night of broken glass”—and over 7,000 Jewish shops and a hundred synagogues and homes were ransacked, robbed, and burned. In the aftermath, more than 25,000 Jews were sent to concentration camps.

In 1939, several hundred Jewish refugees sailed on the liner St. Louis from Hamburg for Havana, Cuba. On board were 937 Jews fleeing Nazi persecution after the horror of Kristallnacht the previous November. Each passenger of the St. Louis carried a valid visa providing for temporary entry into Cuba.

However, as the ship neared Havana, the Cuban government announced that the visas were no longer valid and denied entry to the nearly one thousand passengers. The St. Louis then sailed for the United States but the American government—adhering to its strict immigration policy—also denied them entry and even refused to let the ship dock. After weeks of futility and pleas for asylum, the St. Louis returned to Europe, docking at Antwerp, where the king and prime minister permitted 200 passengers to enter Belgium. The British, French, and Dutch governments finally agreed to grant temporary asylum for the refugees, but by then the passengers had disembarked at Amsterdam. When the Nazis invaded the Netherlands on 10 May 1940, many of the Jews from the St. Louis were still there—and found themselves once again in Hitler’s clutches. For most, their hapless and hopeless story finally ended in a Nazi death camp as part of Hitler’s “Final Solution.”

In 1939, President Roosevelt called Congress into special session to amend the earlier neutrality acts. FDR presented them with a plan he called “cash-and-carry,” which permitted Americans to sell arms and munitions to “democratic countries” able to pay for them in cash and carry them away from American docks in their own ships. Some isolationists in Congress protested  the plan, but the Neutrality Act of 1939 finally allowed Britain and France to buy American weapons and war materiel. It was not until March 1941 that Congress passed the Lend-Lease Act—permitting the president to “sell, transfer title to, exchange, lease, lend, or otherwise dispose of,” war materiel to other governments deemed “vital to the defense of the United States.” FDR was authorized to provide up to $1 billion to England in such aid.

But all of this military aid would come too late for the Dutch, Belgian, British, and French armies that had to face the German onslaught in May 1940. Within days of the Dunkirk evacuation, the president asked for Congress to authorize more funds for America’s own national defense—and for the Selective Training and Service Act—the first U.S. peacetime military draft. This bill, considered by isolationist opponents to be “jingoistic,” and too “provocative for a neutral nation,” would eventually make it possible to recruit more than sixteen million Americans—but it had to be reauthorized the following year. Accordingly, the number of infantrymen who were assigned to specific organized U.S. Army units actually decreased between mid-1939 and the start of 1940 to a total of just under 50,000 men. It wasn’t until 12 August 1941 that the law was amended, authorizing U.S. military conscripts to be sent overseas. It passed the U.S. House of Representatives by a single vote.

By then, it was becoming apparent to most Americans that it wouldn’t be long before the country would be called upon to do more than simply provide arms and munitions in what was fast becoming a global conflagration. One of those who saw it coming was a young U.S. Army aviator from Florida named John Alison.


SECOND LIEUTENANT JOHN ALISON, USAAF

Moscow, Russia 
2 July 1940
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I was commissioned as a second lieutenant in the field artillery of the United States Army in 1935. When I graduated in June of ’36, I went  almost directly to the Army Flying School in Randolph Field. I had to resign my commission in order to enroll as a flying cadet, and attend the Army Flying School at San Antonio, Texas. I completed my training and was assigned in 1937 to Langley Field, Virginia, flying a PB-2A.

At this time America was antiwar. I don’t think we had really one ready division in the United States Army at the beginning of World War I. And now, just before World War II, we were only a little better off. The country just didn’t want to prepare for war. If we’d had the level of preparedness for the beginning of World War II that we had two years later, the war would’ve much shorter. And cost far less. And we would’ve saved the lives of a lot of really good kids.

I’d been flying for two years when General Claire Chennault asked me to demonstrate a new P-40 fighter aircraft for some Chinese who were buying the planes for China to use against the Japanese, and right after that, I was sent to England with the P-40s to help the RAF assimilate this new American aircraft under the Lend-Lease Plan.

I think our greatest help was as a morale booster, giving them hope that the Americans were going to come in and help them fight this war. But we only flew over Britain. When we left General “Hap” Arnold pointed his finger at us and said, “Look . . . you know, the antiwar sentiment that’s going on in the United States today. Your RAF friends are going to say, come on, fly over France with us. If you do, I’m not going to court martial you—I’m going to have you shot! If an American officer is shot down over France and we’re not at war, the antiwar sentiment and the active press that we’ll be getting, if you’re shot down, it’ll do us tremendous damage. So don’t you dare cross the channel!” So, of course we took that seriously.

Then Hitler invaded Russia. The president was interested in keeping Russia in the war because he anticipated that later on, we were going to be involved too. When the Germans attacked the Russians, the president sent his assistant Mr. Harry Hopkins and me to Moscow.

We tried to find out from the Russians what they really needed most but they were very secretive. As matter of fact I never saw one act of  genuine cooperation between the Russians and our side. I met with the Russian generals and Hopkins met with Stalin; we tried to find out about their tanks—whether we could improve on them; The flat answer was, “We have a good tank.” Artillery pieces—“We have good artillery.” Airplanes? “We have good airplanes.” But finally it was agreed that we would send the P-40s to Russia. They didn’t need much training but we put together a system to supervise the assembly of the airplanes. And my partner and I test-flew every airplane before we delivered it to the Russians.

I was in Moscow when the Germans got to the city in October. We had to evacuate. The provisional capital had been moved from Moscow to the Caucuses. I requested that I be relieved of my assignment in Moscow and sent back to my unit in the United States—because I knew by now that America was getting ready for war. It hadn’t happened yet, but I knew it was coming.



When the war in Europe began, the American army was the seventeenth largest in the world—just behind that of Romania. What troops we had were issued the old “bell style” helmets left over from World War I, and the men drilled with wooden guns. That didn’t dismay many of those who were suddenly “called up.” In the midst of the Great Depression, joining the Army paid a dollar a day, and provided a bunk and three square meals a day. That sounded pretty good to a lot of people.

Seventeen-year-old Joe Boitnott, a fresh-faced high school dropout, needed work, and by his own account, “a little discipline in my life,” so he decided to join the Iowa National Guard for that dollar a day that they paid for every drill. Joe told his friend, a farm boy named Duane Stone, “Why don’t you join? It’s a dollar a drill. And we’re gonna go to Minnesota for twenty-one days. And that’s $21.” And $21 was big money for a teenager in Depression-era Iowa.

Angelo Montemaro grew up in Brooklyn during the Great Depression and after graduating from high school was one of the lucky ones to find a job. He became a bellhop for the Hotel Commodore on Lexington and 42nd Street in New York City. One of the perks of being a bellhop was that he  occasionally got to hear the Big Band sounds of an orchestra playing in the hotel ballroom. For this young teenager, life—despite the Depression—seemed good, and war was something he scarcely thought of.


JOSEPH BOITNOTT

Des Moines, Iowa 
2 July 1940
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I joined the National Guard December 21, 1939. At that time, my father and mother had been divorced and I was living with my sister, in Des Moines, Iowa. So, I joined the National Guard, to gain both discipline and money. In the summer of 1940, we went to Camp Ripley, Minnesota, on maneuvers. We had come back from that twenty-one-day encampment, and we settled in to do more training, in our armory there in Des Moines.

And later, we were mobilized from the National Guard of Iowa, Minnesota, and South Dakota into the Army of the United States, and were sent to Camp Claiborne, Louisiana, for a year’s training. We trained on forced marches, ten-mile marches, with full field pack. And we had to dig foxholes and let a tank go over, to make sure we got that training. We had no amphibious training or desert training.

We trained with very old World War I equipment. Our rifles were 1903 Springfield rifles. We had some Colt .45s, but revolvers—not the automatic pistols. The Army Air Corps would “bomb” us during the maneuvers—they’d drop flour bags as bombs. And some of our units had wooden guns. And our bayonet training, and hand-to-hand combat, was very limited.

But in the meantime, they started the Selective Service. We received these Selective Service draftees into our unit. We then trained at Camp Claiborne throughout the summer on basic maneuvers. Later in the year the Japs bombed Pearl Harbor, in December. We were alerted, and sent to guard different structures in Louisiana and along the Texas border.

And then, we come back, and were ordered to get on a troop train. Our destination was unknown. We later found out we were going to Fort Dix, New Jersey. There we waited to be shipped out. Every day we marched around the field, or ran around the perimeter of Fort Dix doing calisthenics. And it was cold, living and sleeping in those tattered tents. We were scheduled to leave on the USS Normandy. But the Normandy caught fire and burned. So we were delayed two or three weeks, until another ship could be refitted for troops. They used these luxury liners, and refitted them for us. Everything was done in a hurry. And before long we sailed on the Mariposa.

When we boarded the ship and sailed, our convoy rendezvoused at Nova Scotia. We picked up other ships for the crossing. And we still, at that point, didn’t know where our destination was. But we landed in Ireland, and after six or eight months, we were transferred to Scotland where we trained some more without the proper weapons and equipment.
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DUANE STONE

Des Moines, Iowa 
2 July 1940
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My friend had joined the National Guard and asked me to join too. He said, “It’s a dollar a drill. And we’re gonna go to Minnesota for twenty-one days of maneuvers.” Well, that seemed like big money in the middle of the Depression.

My family and I lived on a farm. My dad worked as a laborer, for the farm. My older brother and I got work shocking wheat and oats. But, for fifty cents a day, it wasn’t much money. So, the opportunity came along to enlist. And we were paid—every three months we got twelve bucks. It paid for a lot of little things here and there. In fact, it paid for my graduation suit when I graduated in May of 1940.

My cousin always believed that we were going to have trouble with Japan—not Germany. I mean, he wasn’t a college graduate, but he was well-educated enough from reading the papers and books that Japan was going to be our enemy. And we weren’t at war with either Japan or Germany then. But France and England were. And the U.S. was trying to supply them with ammunition, weapons, and war equipment. That was what we were supposed to do—help France and England. But not get into the fighting.

Well, most Americans realized what the situation was. I think our parents back then—a lot of them had sons in the service—they had to know what was going on. They had to realize that their sons would soon be involved with the war.
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ANGELO MONTEMARO

Brooklyn, New York 
2 July 1940
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I was working then at the Hotel Commodore as a bellhop. I had been doing that for three years. The Depression was terrible—that’s when Franklin Delano Roosevelt started the WPA. I had three brothers on the WPA. When Hitler went into Poland, the U.S. started mandatory conscription, and you had to go into the service. That’s why my brother Joe was in the service already.

I graduated high school in 1937. I wanted to go to college but I couldn’t go because my family was pretty poor. So I got my higher education at the Hotel Commodore. When the war finally started, I got my draft notice about six months later. Now we were five brothers in the service, and our folks were pretty proud. My brother Mike was in the Marine Corps. He went to Iwo Jima. My brother Vincent was a doctor, and a colonel in the Army Medical Corps. My brother Joe was with an artillery  unit and my youngest brother, Peter, was in the Army Air Force. I was in the infantry.

I had ninety days in Camp Cross. Then they took us to Fort Mead, Maryland. From there we went to Fort Kilmer, and then to Camp Miles Standish in Boston. From there we went across the North Atlantic in a convoy that took us twenty-three days to get to Plymouth, England. They were really happy to see us.
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Following his 1940 reelection, President Roosevelt declared that the United States should become “the great arsenal of democracy.” In August 1941 FDR and British prime minister Winston Churchill announced new Allied goals for dealing with Hitler’s aggression, presented in what they called the Atlantic Charter. Britain and America each pledged to respect “the right of all peoples to choose the form of government under which they will live.” Both also promised a free world without war “after the final destruction of Nazi tyranny.”

By then, the Royal Air Force had all but won perhaps one of the most lopsided and revolutionary series of engagements in the history of warfare—the “Battle of Britain.” As America slowly mobilized to confront the great peril of Hitler’s aggression, the Royal Air Force and the German Luftwaffe were dueling in the skies over the British Isles. The 10 July–30 October 1940 aerial battle made it possible for Britain to survive. Winston Churchill characterized it as “their finest hour.”





CHAPTER 2

THE BATTLE OF BRITAIN AND THE LONDON BLITZ JULY–OCTOBER 1940


The fall of France on 22 June 1940 presented Hitler with a new strategic dilemma: what to do about the British Isles. Still hoping that Churchill would come to some kind of accommodation with Germany, the Nazi leader decided to pressure the pesky Brits by ordering highly visible preparations for Operation Sea Lion—the invasion of England.

Brushing aside the anxieties of his General Staff, Hitler directed that a fleet of barges, tugs, and landing craft assemble at captured Dutch, Belgian, and French ports. And then, to ratchet up the pressure, on 10 July, he ordered the first significant cross-channel air raids against British shore defenses, merchant ports, and naval installations on the south coast of England.

The Battle of Britain had begun. Its outcome would determine Great Britain’s survival as an independent nation.

For six days, groups of twenty to thirty German Dornier 17s, Heinkel 111s, Junkers 87 (Stukas) and Ju-88s, escorted by Messerschmitt 109s and twin-engine Me-110s, flew from hastily repaired French and Belgian airfields. This amazing aircraft armada flew into the teeth of well-prepared British defenses. When these limited attacks produced no softening in  Churchill’s resolve, the Reich chancellor issued Führer Directive No. 16, ordering accelerated preparations for Operation Sea Lion. Hitler correctly surmised that without total control of the air over the Channel and the invasion beaches, any attack on England would be doomed to failure.

 





“Never in the field of human conflict was so much owed by so many to so few.”
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The Luftwaffe was ordered to both prepare the way for Wehrmacht assault forces and “prevent all air attacks” by the Royal Air Force. But now, for the first time since German aggression began in 1938, Hitler learned that just because he ordered something didn’t necessarily make it so.

RAF Fighter Command’s Supermarine Spitfires and Hawker Hurricanes, vectored by fifty “Chain Home” radar stations, swarmed up to meet the attacking Luftwaffe formations. Hermann Goering, Hitler’s air minister, responded by ordering an increase in the number of Me-109 and Me-110 fighter escorts for their bombers.

On 19 July, Hitler summoned the Reichstag—Germany’s now impotent legislature—all of the puppet governors from the conquered territories, the diplomatic corps, and the world press to Berlin’s Kroll Opera House for a “victory celebration.” At the conclusion of his lengthy speech, the German dictator made a blatant call for British capitulation: “I feel it is my duty,  before my own conscience to appeal once more to reason and common sense in Great Britain and elsewhere. I consider myself in a position to make this appeal since I am not the vanquished begging for favors, but the victor speaking in the name of reason. I see no reason why this war must go on.”

While waiting for Churchill to accept the futility of further resistance, the Luftwaffe continued its daily raids—with inevitable dogfights over the Channel and the fields of southern England. By the end of the month the Luftwaffe had lost more than 100 bombers and eighty fighters while the RAF had lost just seventy Spitfires and Hurricanes. While almost half the British pilots had parachuted to safety over friendly territory, nearly all the downed German airmen were killed or captured.

On 30 July Hitler summoned his commanders to Berghof, his Bavarian retreat. There he reiterated his decision to double the number of Panzer divisions from ten to twenty and increase the Wehrmacht from 120 to 180 divisions. Two days later he issued Führer Directive No. 17, launching Operation Eagle and ordering the Luftwaffe to “overpower the English air force.”

Goering commanded his pilots to effectively double the number of strikes against British “flying units,” bases, aircraft plants, and anti-aircraft installations and predicted that his pilots would “crush Britain.” Fortunately for the British, the Luftwaffe never developed a coherent plan for doing so—nor did Goering, a World War I ace, ever seem to grasp the importance that radar played in defeating the German air offensive.

 





German Dornier planes over Britain.
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For another two weeks Luftwaffe bombers pounded RAF fighter bases and bomber fields, the piers at Portsmouth, munitions plants, and shipping along the Thames and in the English Channel. Only once were any of the radar stations hit—and none of the German raids succeeded in disrupting the carefully integrated RAF early warning and control centers.

When he met with his senior military commanders at the Reich Chancellery on 14 August, Hitler once again expressed his hopes that the air campaign would bring the stubborn British to some accommodation, to protect their “Asian colonies and trade from Japanese aggression.” But the next day, losses of Stukas and pilots were so high that Kesselring and Sperrle, commanders of the Luftwaffe 2nd and 3rd Air Fleets, stopped sending the dive-bombers across the channel.

For the German Me-109 pilots escorting the bombers, each trip over England became increasingly dangerous as the RAF fighter pilots gained proficiency and experience. Gunther Raal, a young pilot from Stuttgart, Germany, saw this transition firsthand from the cockpit of his Me-109.


GUNTHER RAAL, LUFTWAFFE PILOT

Qoquel Airfield, Near Calais, France 
15 August 1940
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I joined the army as a cadet at the age of eighteen. Then I changed to become an officer to the air force when I was twenty years old because I wanted to fly. I was not politically orientated—and besides, active duty officers weren’t allowed to join political parties. I just wanted to serve my country.

I went to a famous fighter pilot school northeast of Berlin. Just when I finished the course, the war started. In those days we didn’t count flying hours, not even takeoffs or sorties. Once you got your wings you decided whether to go into bombers or fighters. My temperament is for a fighter pilot. I wanted to sit alone in my airplane and fight, not as part of a crew in a plane. That’s not my temperament.

I was just twenty-two years old when I saw combat for the first time. When the war started, my squadron of Messerschmitt Me-109 fighters was on the frontier with France and there was hesitation on both sides about flying across the border. The French flew down the Rhine on the western side, and we on the eastern side. Then in May ’40, the Wehrmacht moved into France and we had our first air-to-air contact. Mine was against a Curtis P-36 and it was my first victory.

After the French surrendered, we were told to prepare for the invasion of England. I was a lieutenant in one of the fighter units with the mission of escorting the bombers to their targets in England. At first our assignment was to escort Stuka Ju-87 dive-bombers. These were very slow flying airplanes, and our fighter escorts had to stay close by. We would meet them at a rendezvous point over France and then lead them over to England. Our Messerschmidt 109s—the escorts—were good aircraft, but as we approached the coast, the British Spitfires would be waiting for us upstairs. And we lost a lot of pilots.

At first they just had us go after military targets—not the cities. But even after we switched to using just the Dornier and Heinkel bombers—they were faster than the Stukas—but the Luftwaffe wasn’t a strategic air force. Precision bombing was not that far developed, and our fighters didn’t have the range to escort the bombers all the way to targets on the west side of the island. The whole concept was wrong. The weather was terrible—and just got worse as the summer wore on.

The British pilots had the advantage of defending their own territory—and many of them were very good. As we lost pilots and planes, the British just kept getting more of both. Their Spitfires and Hurricanes were no better than our Me-109s—but they could stay up longer because they were fighting right over their own airfields. We could only engage for a few minutes before we had to turn and go back across the channel before we ran out of fuel.

I was credited with shooting down 275 planes because I flew fighters in combat for five and a half years, except when I was in hospital. The best pilots are those who fly many missions. The best British pilots were the  ones who flew hundreds of missions—that’s what makes a good pilot. All of us had the greatest respect for the Royal Air Force. Their tactics and skills were excellent.



By mid-August, Goering and his high command decided that the only way to bomb England more effectively would be to eliminate the British fighter threat to the Dornier and Heinkel bombers. Accordingly, the Luftwaffe was ordered to shift the focus of their attacks and concentrate on “obliterating” the RAF Fighter Command bases. For the next three weeks, nearly every Spitfire and Hurricane station in southeast England was hit as the Germans launched thousands of sorties against the British defensive network.

By the end of the month, losses of RAF fighters and pilots were almost double that of the Luftwaffe. In the last week of August and the first week of September, RAF Fighter Command lost nearly 300 Spitfires and Hurricanes. And although the RAF managed to down more than 375 German aircraft, fewer than half were fighters.

Bigham Hill—a key sector station for Eleven Group of RAF Fighter Command, twelve miles south of London—was hit multiple times a day for nearly a week. And though it never went completely out of service, scores of ground support personnel were killed and numerous fighters damaged in the German raids. One of the young pilots flying from Bigham Hill throughout the onslaught was twenty-two-year-old Hurricane pilot Pete Brothers.


PETER BROTHERS, RAF PILOT

Bigham Hill, South of London, England 
29 August 1940
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I joined the Air Force after we were given the talk by a First World War fighter ace, who said, “There’s going to be another war and you chaps are going to be in it. I’ll give you one piece of advice. When you get into your  first combat you’ll be frightened. Always remember the chap in the other cockpit is twice as frightened as you are.”

He was right. When I got into my first combat, I was practically hysterical but I thought of those words, and then said, “Well then, the poor chap in the German cockpit must be going insane, so I’d better put him out of his misery.” Which I did.

I applied to join the Royal Air Force as soon as I was seventeen and then in January 1936, they sent me a letter saying to report. I was lucky because I had already done 100 to 150 hours flying at a training school. The RAF gave me a couple of checks, put me through some drills, a little ground school, and then my instructor said, “Fine, you know how to fly, you’ve done it.” So I was selected to fly fighters and assigned to a Hurricane squadron.

Nobody had imagined that the Germans would roll up to the coast of France so fast. We reckoned the only aircraft we were going to see were bombers. But my first fight was against Messerschmidt 109s. And as they were coming toward us I thought they were specks on the windscreen—when suddenly they grew larger, coming right at us. I vividly remember the first one I shot down. He came out of a cloud about thirty feet above me—so close that I could see oil streaks from underneath his engine cowlings and missing chips of paint. He swept over the top of me and he was turning around, coming in to attack. As he did, he overshot, so I got on his tail and shot him down.

Within a couple of weeks the British Expeditionary Force in France was surrounded at Dunkirk and they pulled my squadron back to Bigham Hill. From there, I flew cover over Dunkirk, trying to protect the troops being evacuated and providing cover for them from attacks by German bombers and fighter aircraft. We were amazed that so many troops were able to get out and across the Channel. France capitulated shortly after that. We said, “It’s up to us now... and nobody is going to muck us about anymore.”

After Dunkirk there was a lull while the Germans got ready to launch their heavy strikes on England. And then the raids started in what  the newspaper people called the Battle of Britain, and it began to get very hectic.

At first they went after the ports and beach defenses and the like. Then, after a few weeks, the Germans started to mount heavy raids on our airfields with 200 to 250 bombers—escorted by a similar number of fighters flying above them. We’d take a look and say, “Well . . . where do we start?” Our tactics had us going this way and that, and it wasn’t very successful. After we had lost a number of our mates, someone said, “I tell you what—let’s take the Germans head on. They probably won’t like that—the gunner in a bomber is sitting in a Plexiglas nose—and we’ve got eight guns and he’s only got two. So let’s take them head on. That should split them up.” And it did.

The Germans’ instinct was to pull up, over the top of someone that they thought was about to collide with them. And that’s a bad instinct. We learned to always push forward and fly underneath for two reasons: one, you expect the other chap to pull up, and two, you gain more speed shoving the nose down into a quick dive. It gives you time to turn around and attack from the rear.

That kind of thing helped. And you got to know your aircraft inside out—all it could and couldn’t do.

On a typical day we’d be up and on the airfield before first light—aircraft ready, engines warmed up and ready to go. Because we had radars to warn us of an incoming raid in our sector, we were usually on fifteen-minute alert. But in late August and early September—when they were hitting our bases—sometimes several times a day we would be on “cockpit alert”—sitting in the cockpit, guns loaded, engine running, just waiting for the signal to launch, what direction to head and what altitude they were coming in on. Those were very long days—and very short nights.

Had we lost, and been invaded, Germany would’ve controlled the whole of Europe. There would have been no stepping-stone for the U.S. to come to our help. That was something we thought about a lot in those days.



By the first week of September 1940, RAF Fighter Command was reeling from the effects of the Luftwaffe assault on its string of bases. Hitler, still hoping for some kind of accommodation from Churchill, had ordered that London not be attacked—and the British capital had been largely spared the wrath of the German bombing campaign. Though aircraft plants, munitions factories, and shipyards had been hit—with attendant civilian casualties—the Führer reserved for himself any decision on attacking London’s closely nestled residential areas. But on 7 September that all changed. For the first time, massed formations of Luftwaffe bombers headed not for the beleaguered RAF Fighter Command stations, but straight for the British capital.

For fighter pilots like London-born Billy Drake, the shift in German tactics was a reprieve. By that first grim week in September 1940, the twenty-three-year-old fighter pilot had already been shot down and wounded over France, evaded capture, and made his way back to England to rejoin his mates in the desperate battle.


BILLY DRAKE, RAF PILOT

London, England 
31 August 1940
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I took my first flight in a bi-plane at a circus when I was fourteen and became a pilot in 1936. I used to read a magazine called Flight, and there was an advertisement saying that the Royal Air Force wanted pilots. And I told them that I wanted to join a fighter squadron

The first time I saw a Hurricane was about 1938. We’d already been briefed by the British air attaché in Berlin, about the capabilities of the Messerschmitt 109. And the Hurricane was an airplane that had been produced to compete against the 109 with its eight guns, a proven engine, and it looked like a proper airplane. At the same time we saw the Spitfire. It had been produced at about the same time. We were certain that with  these two aircraft we could take on anything that the Germans wanted to throw at us.

In those days there were no two-seat trainers. A test pilot would sit us down and tell us about the airplane, so we weren’t completely in the dark. But we had to teach ourselves how to fly it.

After the Germans invaded Poland we flew to France and were posted to a French air base and settled down to wait for the Germans. We were at this place for about nine months, until May, when the Germans invaded France.

While we were in France we had no radar, like we had back in England—so we had no advance warning of any movement of the German air force. The only indications we had was when we saw these condensation contrails in the sky. But of course we had no communications so we didn’t know if they were ours, French, or even German airplanes. So we had to intercept them to find out. The first time I saw a German airplane was when I intercepted one of these condensation contrails—and it turned out to be an RAF aircraft doing photographic reconnaissance. I was following him when I looked down and saw a German Me-109, coming up to intercept this recon airplane. So I paid a compliment for this German’s interest by taking a shot at him.

He saw me first, dived away, and I followed him. It took me about ten minutes before I got closer to him—but I still couldn’t get within range to fire. He dove again, trying to lure me into some high-tension cables but I saw them in time. He pulled up to see if I hit them and crashed, but as he pulled up—which slowed him up—it gave me an opportunity to get within range and I shot him down.

On the second day of the German invasion, my own personal airplane—which I’d had for about three years—was being serviced, so I got into another plane. When I got to 18,000 feet I realized the oxygen wasn’t working. So I called the flight leader and said, “I have to return to base—my oxygen is not working.”

The pilot flying the point said, “Okay . . . push off. We’ll see you later.”

As I was flying back to my base at about 12,000 feet, I saw three Dornier 17s and went straight in to attack. I shot one down, and as I was getting into position to shoot down a second one, a Messerschmitt 110—the twin-engine German fighter—got behind my tail, and repaid the compliment, setting my airplane on fire. I was panicking, and decided to get out with my parachute, and did all the necessary preparations. But when I tried to jump, I hit my head against the canopy—which probably saved my life because the flames were all around me and I was covered in petrol. If I had I opened the cockpit hood at that time, the flames would have come inside and enveloped me. But as it was, I was able to roll the plane upside down, the flames were swept in the opposite direction, and I fell out.

The parachute worked, but I’d hurt my back and my legs getting out of the aircraft—I thought I’d lost my leg, it was hurting so. Somehow I made a safe landing, but as I was climbing out of my parachute harness, five or six French peasants confronted me with pitchforks and scythes. They thought I was a German. I showed them my RAF wings, and then they couldn’t have been more helpful.

They got me on a motorcycle and took me to a medical clearing station. There were no doctors there, just orderlies—and they had run out of anesthetic. Before they started to dig away and to extract the bullet fragments that were buried in my back, they gave me morphine. They said, “Do not worry about your leg, it is still there. There was only shrapnel doing all the harm in your leg.”

After digging out the metal from my back, they got me into a car, and took me to a train that took me to a French hospital at a town called Chartres.

About five of my squadron mates were killed during the period that I was laid up. When I made it back to England, the medical authorities had a good look at me and said, “He’s fit enough to fly.” By now the Battle of Britain had started, and all I wanted to do was to get back into a fighter unit.

The Germans shifted tactics and started to bomb our fighter airfields. If they had kept it up—and gone after the radars—they might have knocked Fighter Command out of the skies over England. But then Hitler suddenly shifted tactics again and started to bomb London and ignored the fighter airfields. It was a big mistake for their air force. It gave Fighter Command a chance to recover—to replace planes and pilots and repair our air stations.

Because we had radars and a very good early warning network, we could launch our Hurricanes and Spitfires just in time to intercept the bombers as they were lining up to make their bomb runs over London—when they have to stay straight and level.

After a few weeks of heavy losses the German air force turned to night terror bombing—just trying to kill as many civilians as possible. Night attacks made their bombers harder to find, but it also meant that they weren’t going to have as many Me-109s with them—and after a few weeks, we all got pretty good at night flying. I was credited with shooting down twenty-four and a half German planes—the half was because somebody else had already put some hits into one of them.

We encountered some French fighter pilots flying for the Germans. They would occasionally come over the Channel to test our defenses. I intercepted one over the Channel one day and indicated that he should come back with me, and land. But he indicated “no.” So, I had to get behind him as he turned, and shoot him down. That wasn’t a very pleasant task, but a very wise officer once told me, “An order is an order and not an excuse for discussion.” That’s the way it was in the war. If we were told to do something, we did it. That’s how we did our jobs—we did them to the best of our ability.



For the people of London, Hitler’s shift in strategy meant that they were now the targets for the waves of German aircraft. Starting on 7 September, hundreds of Heinkel and Dornier bombers, escorted by scores of Me-109s and Me-110s, poured high explosives down on London’s factories, offices, and homes.

Over the capital were 1,500 barrage balloons—trailing long cables to snare Luftwaffe propellers. In and around the city were more than 2,200 medium and heavy caliber anti-aircraft guns.

For those on the ground, the air raids followed a pattern that became almost a ritual: first the wailing of air raid sirens, then the roar of the approaching bombers, followed by the snarl of fighters snaking through the bomber formations, guns blazing. Next came the blasting of anti-aircraft cannons from batteries set up in parks and on rooftops around the city. Finally—if the RAF pilots and anti-aircraft gunners couldn’t turn the raiders away—came the crash of bombs.

For Chrissy Quinn, a London factory worker, it was a terrifying experience.


CHRISTINA QUINN

London, England 
15 September 1940
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I was born in the East End of London. Everybody was poor in those days, so we weren’t any poorer than other people, and my dad had a bad illness in 1934, so he never got a job again. But my mum went to work as a tent finisher. I had two brothers that worked and they used to give mum a pound a week, and she used to buy their clothes out of that. Dad died when he was sixty.

I won a scholarship, to go to high school—we got one pound and eight a month as a grant. I learned dressmaking at school, and I went to work in a factory making brassieres for a German man who was interned as soon as the war started. His factory was closed that morning—but that afternoon I went to work as a sewing machine operator in factory making army overcoats in the East End of London.

I was just nineteen when the war came, and was engaged to a nice boy but he was called up right away. Pretty soon, all our boyfriends left. Lots of them never came home. They died in France or North Africa or at sea.

We thought that was as bad as it could get, but then the Germans started the bombing here at home. At first it was far away—in Plymouth or Portsmouth, Bristol, Birmingham. But then they started coming after London.

Our factories were all bombed. Some days we headed off to work to find that the factory had been hit during the night. Once we were sent to Kent, to pick hops in the fields. It was a beautiful autumn day and then we heard the German bombers high overhead, heading for London. We couldn’t see the planes—just the vapor trails they leave—hundreds of them. They told us to get in the ditches and from there, lying on our backs, we watched as our fighters climbed up to meet them.

The fight went on for a long time, right overhead and it was terrible, really terrible—but you couldn’t stop watching overhead. I can still see the parachutes coming down—I don’t know whether they were ours or theirs—but there were a lot of them.

Another time, in London, my sister had just had a baby, and we were at the market when the air raid warning went off. So, we ran home, went in the Anderson Underground station shelter, and stayed for hours. We were terrified. When we came out, the bombing was finished, but everything was ablaze. For miles along the docks, ships and everything was alight. And, of course, those who had lost their homes were milling about, trying to recover some belongings and get to a shelter.

Late in the fall, I guess it was the end of September, the Germans pretty much stopped coming in the daylight and started just bombing just at night. All of England was under a strict blackout—meaning no lights could show. If we had a night shift at the factory, we had to walk in the middle of the road and let the moonlight guide us. It was frightening, walking in the blackout. If it was a moonlight night, we knew the Germans would be coming to bomb. If it was a rotten night, they usually wouldn’t come. But if it was a nice moonlight night, we thought, “Well, tonight’s the night they’ll come.”

The worst thing was when our own house got bombed. The air raid warning must have been late so as the siren went off we raced for the shelter and the sky was already full of planes. We could hear our Spitfires and  Hurricanes right over our neighborhood and then bam, bam, bam, the anti-aircraft guns were all going. We were all terrified.

When we came out the shelter, three houses were completely bombed, and there was a man, who had been standing on the step watching the air raid. He was a bit of a cripple, a tiny little man. And he was blown to smithereens. As we come out the shelter, you could see bits of him lying about. But the chap next door who had hid under the stairs, he was saved. Our house was badly blasted and we had to move to another place that the council found for us.

The people really pulled together. Everyone tried to help each other. If someone had a shop that got bombed, they would try to open up again right away. “It’s business as usual,” we’d say, and even if everything was bombed, shops opened up to carry on. We were more worried about our fellows in the army.

We never thought the war would finish. Wherever you went, somebody was being killed. But somehow or other we seemed to take it all in our stride. And we got on with our work—if we had a place of work to go to the next morning. I mean, we lost everything, me and mum. I also lost a brother in the war. But we were defiant.
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